IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

THE CITY OF KENOVA, WEST VIRGINIA,

Petitioner,

v.

Docket No. 19-0919

**THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF WEST VIRGINIA,**

Respondent.

PETITIONER, THE CITY OF KENOVA, WEST VIRGINIA'S BRIEF

**ON APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF WEST VIRGINIA'S SEPTEMBER 6, 2019 ORDER
IN CASE NO. 18-1232-S-C**

F. Paul Calamita, W. Va. Bar # 8789
AquaLaw PLC
6 South 5th St.
Richmond, VA 23219
Phone: (804) 716-9021
Fax: (804) 716-9022
paul@aqualaw.com

*Counsel for The City of Kenova,
West Virginia*

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Commission erred in ordering a bill adjustment for water usage attributable to a commode leak in contravention of the express command in the Commission's own Water Rule 4.4.c.1, which states, "Leaking commodes . . . shall not constitute leaks which entitle the customer to a recalculated bill."

2. The Commission erred in grafting a discovery exception into Rule 4.4.c.1 where no such exception exists. The Commission exceeded its authority when it elected to evade the safeguards of public rulemaking by simply interpreting an exception into an unambiguous rule.

3. The Commission also errs in denying the West Virginia public free access to the PSC's electronic complaint database—a database that PSC Staff may use at will and which is made available by the PSC through paid third-party subscription services such as Lexis and Westlaw. The Commission's refusal to make the database available to the public violates the West Virginia's Freedom of Information statute and basic fairness.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In August 2018, the complainant, Rebecca Florczak, received a high water bill. *Florczak v. City of Kenova*, No. 18-1232-S-C, ALJ Recommended Decision at 3 (Feb. 13, 2019) (Appendix ("App'x") 9.) She immediately realized that a commode in her master bathroom was leaking (the chain was hung up in the flapper valve). She and her daughter fixed the leak by adjusting the chain. (*Id.* at 4, App'x 10.) Ms. Florczak had slept in the master bedroom, adjacent to the master bathroom, during the entire period that the toilet leaked, but never entered the master bathroom because it had been used exclusively by her recently deceased husband. (*Id.* at 3, App'x 9.) After Ms. Florczak received the water bill, she requested a leak adjustment from the City of Kenova. (*Id.*, App'x 9.) City officials informed her that the Public Service Commission's rules prohibit them from granting a leak adjustment. (*Id.*, App'x 9.) *See* Commission's Rules for the Government of Water Utilities, 150 C.S.R. § 150-7-4, Rule 4.4.c.1 (the "Water Rules").

Ms. Florczak then contacted Commission staff and was advised that she should receive a leak adjustment despite the Staff's subsequent admission that "a plain reading of the Water Rules would indicate that a leak adjustment is not warranted." (*Id.* at 7, App'x 13.) On February 13, 2019, following a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") entered a recommended decision dismissing the case. (*Id.*, App'x 7-19.) The ALJ found that Commission Rule 4.4.1 is unambiguous and prohibits Kenova from granting an adjustment for a commode leak. On

September 6, 2019, the Commission declined to accept the recommended decision and, instead, ordered the City to grant a leak adjustment because, in the Commission's view, the commode leak was not apparent to the ratepayer. *Florczak v. City of Kenova*, No. 18-1232-S-C, Commission Order at 5 (W. Va. P.S.C. Sept. 6, 2019) (App'x 5.)

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission's Water Rule 4.4.c.1 is controlling and states in relevant part: "Leaking commodes . . . shall not constitute leaks which entitle the customer to a recalculated bill."

We trust the Court, like the ALJ below, will find this regulatory command to be clear on its face and, yet again, remind the PSC that "fairness requires administrative bodies to abide by their rules until they are lawfully changed by law." *C & P Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 171 W. Va. 708, 714, 301 S.E.2d 798, 804 (1983). See *Consumer Advocate Div. of Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. Public Serv. Comm'n of West Virginia*, 182 W. Va. 152, 156, 386 S.E.2d 650, 654 (1989), wherein the West Virginia Supreme Court stated that interpretation of an existing rule is only proper if an ambiguity in language is present. Moreover, "[a] statute, or administrative rule, may not, under the guise of 'interpretation,' be modified, revised, amended or rewritten." Syl. pt. 1, *Consumer Advocate*, 182 W. Va. at 156, 386 S.E.2d at 654 (1989).

Because Rule 4.4.c.1 is crystal clear on its face that "leaking commodes" shall not be a basis to provide a bill adjustment, the Court must overturn the decision of the Commission. The Commission plainly exceeded its authority by seeking to modify the rule to include a discoverability exception without following the public safeguards of rulemaking.

Finally, the Commission must make its full database of complaint cases available to the public. While Commission attorneys have access to these cases, the Commission claims that public access to these records is restricted because of privacy concerns. That rationale is a red

herring because the Commission has made such records, in their entirety, available to paying subscribers of third party services such as Lexis and Westlaw. The Court should order the Commission to allow public access to its complaint case database.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 18(a)(4) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, the City does not believe that oral argument is necessary in this case because it involves a simple, narrow, and straightforward legal argument which has been adequately presented in the briefs and the record on appeal. However, the City will participate in oral argument if the Court determines that argument will aid the Court's decision-making process.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of review.

The standard of review of final orders of the Commission is as follows:

In reviewing a Public Service Commission order, we will first determine whether the Commission's order, viewed in light of the relevant facts and of the Commission's broad regulatory duties, abused or exceeded its authority. We will examine the manner in which the Commission has employed the methods of regulation which it has itself selected, and must decide whether each of the order's essential elements is supported by substantial evidence....

Syl. Pt. 2, *Monongahela Power Co. v. Public Service Comm'n*, 166 W. Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981).

B. The Commission cannot grant a leak adjustment where expressly prohibited by Water Rule 4.4.c.1.

A leak adjustment for a leaking commode is explicitly prohibited by the Commission's Water Rules.

Leaking commodes, dripping faucets, malfunctioning appliances, and similar situations shall not constitute leaks which entitle the customer to a recalculated bill.

Water Rule 4.4.c.1 (emphasis added).

As if this language is not clear enough on its face, during adoption of this rule, the Commission explained, “[W]e do believe that the rule [allowing leak adjustments] should *not* apply to leaky commodes, dishwashers or other appliances. We have attempted to place an exclusion in the rule *to prevent adjustments in those circumstances*. The adjustment is intended to be applied for major leaks such as pipes which break.” *In Re Revised Rules and Regulations for Water Util.*, Gen. Ord. No. 188.12, 1995 WL 735601 (W. Va. P.S.C. Oct. 11, 1995) (emphasis added).

Not surprisingly, the Commission has consistently denied bill adjustments in accordance with Rule 4.4.c.1, without any consideration as to the discoverability of the leak. *See Currence v. Elkins Mun. Water Dep’t*, No. 03-0004-W-C, 2003 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1533 at *6 (W. Va. P.S.C. Apr. 9, 2003) (finding leaks associated with a toilet are not entitled to a leak adjustment despite the fact that the house was vacant); *Sabo v. Morgantown Util. Bd.*, No. 02-0367-WS-C, 2002 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2513 at *3 (W. Va. P.S.C. June 14, 2002) (finding leaks from a toilet are not qualified for leak adjustments even though the resident was deceased); *Moye v. West Virginia-American Water Co.*, No. 00-1441-W-C, 2001 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1005, at *3 (W. Va. P.S.C. Jan. 5, 2001) (holding that toilet leaks *clearly* do not qualify for a leak adjustment despite the fact that the house was vacant). Notably, in *Sabo*, which involved a commode leak discovered by the deceased resident’s daughter, the Commission denied a leak adjustment. *See Sabo*, 2002 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2513, at *1, *8. Although the undiscovered leak led to a \$500 water bill, the Commission still dismissed the case for failure to state a claim, reasoning that leaking commodes simply do not qualify for leak adjustments. *Id.* at *7–*8. In all of these cases, despite the fact that the houses were all unoccupied, the Commission never engaged in a

discoverability analysis and, instead, faithfully applied Rule 4.4.c.1 as written. *See id.* at *3; *Currence*, 2003 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1533 at *6; *Moye*, 2001 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1005, at *3.

Notwithstanding the unambiguous prohibition against leak adjustments related to commode leaks and the Commission's consistent history of ignoring the discoverability of the leak, the Commission now attempts to read into the rule an exception for "hidden leaks." *Florczak v. City of Kenova*, No. 18-1232-S-C, at 5 (W. Va. P.S.C. Sept. 6, 2019) (App'x 5.) It does so despite the fact the Commission knows how to establish exceptions to its rules and has not done so here. We count approximately three dozen instances where the Commission's Water Rules establish a prohibition followed by an exception. See, for example:

Section 5.2.d. The utility shall not make any charge for furnishing and installing any permanent service connection, unless....

Section 5.2.i. Availability defined. -- Sewer service will be deemed available to a customer when a main is installed and maintained by the utility in such location and at such distance from the user's premises as may be provided by city ordinance or by the rules of the utility: provided, that service shall not be deemed to be available unless....

Section 5.5.h.2. In estimating the cost of an extension, the estimate shall be based on the diameter of the pipe to be used; provided, that the estimated cost to the customer or customers shall not be based on a pipe diameter greater than the diameter of the main from which the extension is to be made, unless....

Section 5.5.h.8. Contract for service. -- The utility shall not be required to make utility-funded extensions or refunds as described in this rule unless....

The Commission clearly knows how to establish exceptions to its regulatory prohibitions. The fact that it did not do so in Section 4.4.c.1 is controlling and precludes the Commission from evading the public safeguards of rulemaking by "interpreting" a discoverability exception into Water Rule 4.4.c.1.

C. The Commission has impermissibly attempted to amend a rule by administrative order instead of the formal rulemaking process.

The granting of a bill adjustment in the instant case amounts to a revised rule through interpretation. This Court has previously explained that “[a] statute, or administrative rule, may not, under the guise of ‘interpretation,’ be modified, revised, amended or rewritten.” See *Consumer Advocate*, 182 W. Va. at 156, 386 S.E.2d at 654 (1989). See also W. Va. Code § 29A-3-1 (stating that all rules must be made in accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act); Op. Att’y Gen., Oct. 31, 1980, No. 15. (“[Chapter 29] insures that West Virginia Administrative Agencies are not permitted the luxury of conducting their rule-making activities insulated from public sentiment and views.”). The Court in *Consumer Advocate* also noted that “[i]nterpretation of statutes or rules and regulations is proper *only* when an ambiguity exists.” *Consumer Advocate*, 182 W. Va. at 156, 386 S.E.2d at 654 (1989) (emphasis added). Of course, no ambiguity exists here. The rule precluding comcode-based bill adjustments could not be more clearly stated.

The Commission’s decision creates a new rule for utilities without the public safeguards of rulemaking. Accordingly, it must be overturned. See W. Va. Code § 29A-3-5.

D. The Commission violates West Virginia’s Freedom of Information statute by only allowing paying subscribers access to complaint case records.

By prohibiting full access to the Commission’s electronic complaint database, the Commission is violating West Virginia’s Freedom of Information Statute. See W. Va. Code § 29B-1-1. The Commission claims that it limits access to protect the privacy of complainants. *Florczak v. City of Kenova*, No. 18-1232-S-C, at 9 (Feb. 13, 2019) (App’x 15.) However, the Commission makes those very files electronically available in full to paying subscribers of services such as Lexis and Westlaw. See, e.g., *Mayfield Inc.*, 2003 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2471;

Collins, 2002 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2857; *Moye*, 2001 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1005. The fact that the Commission sells these case files in their entirety to third parties for publication reveals the Commission's assertion of complainant privacy concerns is disingenuous.

Taxpayer dollars fund the Commission's operations, and the Commission should not be able to profit from these electronic records while limiting access for taxpayers. *See* § 29B-1-1. Without access to these records, complainants and courts are at a disadvantage because only the Commission can rely on the full history of decisions. *See, e.g., Florczak v. City of Kenova*, No. 18-1232-S-C, at 5 (Sept. 6, 2019) (App'x 5) (citing *John McDowell v. Jefferson Utilities, Inc. and Jefferson County Public Service District*, Case No.09-0769-W-PSD-C, which is not available on the Commission's website, Lexis, or Westlaw). For example, *Sabo*, a case with facts very similar to the ones before us in the case at bar, is only available to complainants at a cost, through Lexis and Westlaw. *See Sabo*, 2002 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2513.

The Commission's argument that one can request a paper copy of case files from the Commission is disingenuous because a litigant has to first identify a case as relevant and can do that only through an on-line search. Even if paper copy research were feasible, it adds a significant additional expense for litigants that is completely unwarranted and inappropriate.

If a complainant cannot access relevant precedent, then he cannot adequately protect his interests and ensure fair application of the Commission's rules. *See* § 29B-1-1 ("it is . . . the public policy of the State of West Virginia that all persons are . . . entitled to full and complete information regarding the affairs of government and the official acts of those who represent them."). The Commission's arbitrary practice of precluding public access to its online database violates West Virginia's Freedom of Information Statute and must be overturned.

E. This case presents a flagrant abuse of process and the Commission should pay the City's costs as a deterrent.

“When a public official disregarded a clear, nondiscretionary duty, without a deliberate intent to avoid obeying the law, [the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has] awarded costs and attorney’s fees.” Syl. Pt. 3, *State ex rel. West Virginia Highlands Conservancy, Inc. v. West Virginia Div. of Env’tl. Prot.*, 193 W. Va. 650, 653, 458 S.E.2d 88, 91 (1995).

The Public Service Commission has deliberately ignored its own rules—rules that municipalities and other utilities are required to follow. Specifically, the Commission has deliberately declined to abide by Rule 4.4.c.1. The Commission’s attempt to rewrite Water Rule 4.4.c.1 through administrative decision-making imposes significant costs on the City and counsel for the City. This included pretrial discovery inappropriately propounded against the City, motions practice, an administrative hearing, and this appeal. The Commission’s arbitrary actions and order penalizes the City for attempting to comply with the Commission Rules as written. Equity to the City, its ratepayers, and legal counsel requires that the Commission pay the City’s legal costs to oppose the Commission’s illegal behavior. The City therefore requests permission to file a fee and cost petition.