FILE COPY

**DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA
CHARLESTON**

THE CITY OF KENOVA, WEST VIRGINIA

Petitioner,

v.

No. 19-0919

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA

Respondent.

**STATEMENT OF THE RESPONDENT
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF WEST VIRGINIA
OF ITS REASONS FOR THE ENTRY OF ITS ORDER
OF SEPTEMBER 6, 2019 IN CASE NO. 18-1232-S-C**

**PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION
OF WEST VIRGINIA
By Counsel,**

**JOHN R. AUVILLE, ESQ.
STAFF ATTORNEY
WV BAR No. 8057
jauville@psc.state.wv.us**

**JESSICA M. LANE, ESQ.
GENERAL COUNSEL
WV BAR No. 7040
jlane@psc.state.wv.us**

**201 Brooks Street
Charleston, WV 25301
(304)340-0450**

November 25, 2019

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rule 4.4.c.1 of the Commission's Rules for the Government of Water Utilities, 150 C.S.R. 7 (Water Rules) does not contain an absolute prohibition to granting a leak adjustment for a leaking commode, dripping faucet or malfunctioning appliance. Water Rule 4.4.c.1 (the Leak Adjustment Rule) instead provides that the utility is not required to grant a leak adjustment for leaks that are normally obvious. Since the adoption of the Leak Adjustment Rule, the Commission has engaged in a case-by-case review of the facts and determined when the specific facts and circumstances of a case warranted an adjustment. The Commission has found particularly compelling instances where the leak was undetectable or was otherwise outside the reasonable control of the customer. By engaging in this review, the Commission fulfills its statutory duties.

In this instance, the Commission found that the evidence established that the leak, which was repaired immediately upon discovery, was not detectable to this particular customer. The Commission therefore correctly did not adopt the Recommended Decision of its ALJ and granted this customer a leak adjustment. The Commission's decision is cost neutral to the City and its other customers because the Leak Adjustment Rule requires a customer to pay the utility's cost to produce the additional leaked water.

The Commission's web docket practice to restrict internet access to information in customer billing complaint cases is reasonable and unrelated to FOIA requirements. FOIA does not require a public body to publish public documents on the internet. FOIA instead requires a public body to provide non-protected information upon request. The Commission has, however,

recently reviewed its website restriction practice and decided to post unredacted versions, if possible, of Orders issued in customer billing complaints on or after October 23, 2019.¹

The City is not entitled to attorneys fees. The Commission exercised its clear legal duty in this matter. The Commission did not behave in an arbitrary manner nor did the Commission act in bad faith. Rather, the Commission appropriately applied the laws and rules to the facts of the case and issued an Order consistent with those facts, laws and rules.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Court has issued a scheduling order setting this matter for Rule 19 argument on February 11, 2019. The City stated an oral argument is unnecessary in this case. The Commission disagrees and believes that the disposition of this appeal will be aided by oral argument.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of a final order of the Commission by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia is provided in W.Va. Code §24-5-1. This Court has recognized the broad legislative powers of the Commission to address the interests of each party. W. Va. Citizens Action Group v. Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 233 W. Va. 327, 758 S.E.2d 254 (2014) (quoting W.Va. Code §24-1-1(a)-(b) (1986));

The principle is well established by the decisions of this Court that an order of the public service commission based upon its finding of facts will not be disturbed unless such finding is contrary to the evidence, or is without evidence to support it, or is arbitrary, or results from a misapplication of legal principles.

¹ The Commission also made its Orders cited in this Statement of Reasons publicly available. To access Commission orders on the Commission web page, go to www.psc.state.wv.us. In the left column under “Formal Case Information,” click “Orders.” On the “Index of PSC Orders” page, click “Search” On the “Full Text Order Search” page - if the order you are searching for is prior to December 1, 2004, click the “Archive – Before Dec 1, 2004” button at the top of the page, and Enter the case number in the “Case Number” text field. (For example, for Case No. 09-0769-W-PSC-C, enter only “09-0769” in the text field. For General Order 186.8, enter only “186.8” in the text field.) Click the “Search” button. Please note that the case may be listed by the date of the Recommended Decision.

Syl. Pt. 1, Sierra Club v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 827 S.E.2d 224, 2019 W. Va. LEXIS 175, 2019 WL 1890250 (2019) (citing United Fuel Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 143 W. Va. 33, 99 S.E.2d 1 (1957); Syl. Pt. 5, Boggs v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 154 W. Va. 146, 174 S.E.2d 331 (1970)).

The detailed standard for our review of an order of the Public Service Commission . . . may be summarized as follows: (1) whether the Commission exceeded its statutory jurisdiction and powers; (2) whether there is adequate evidence to support the Commission's findings; and, (3) whether the substantive result of the Commission's order is proper.

Syl. Pt. 2, Pool v. Greater Harrison Cty. Pub. Serv. Dist., 821 S.E.2d 14, 2018 W. Va. LEXIS 695, 2018 WL 5913873 (2018) (referring to Syl. Pt. 2, Monongahela Power Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 166 W. Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981); citing Syl. Pt. 1, Central W. Va. Refuse, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 190 W. Va. 416, 438 S.E.2d 596 (1993)).

In W.Va. Citizens Action, the Court recognized that "on questions of expediency, or as to what would be best in the interest of the petitioner, or the public served...the Legislature intended that the judgment of the [Public Service] Commission should prevail." W.Va. Citizens Action, 233 W.Va. at 332, 758 S.E.2d at 259, citing, United Fuel Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 73 W.Va. 571, 591, 80 S.E. 931, 939 (1914).

In finding that the Commission carefully explained its decision in an order that contains findings of fact, conclusions of law and a reasoned analysis of the issues the Court stated,

As a result, under this Court's highly deferential standard of review, we find no reason to disturb the Commission's order.

W.Va. Citizens Action, 233 W.Va. at 338, 758 S.E.2d at 265.

In reviewing a Commission Order, this Court is guided by the established holdings in Sexton v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 188 W.Va. 305, 423 S.E.2d 914 (1992) and Monongahela Power

Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 166 W.Va. 423, 276 S.E.2d 179 (1981). Braxton Cnty. Citizens for a Better Env't v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 189 W.Va. 249, 429 S.E.2d 899 (1993), Harrison Rural Electrification Ass'n, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 190 W.Va. 439, 438 S.E.2d 782, (1993) and Mountain Communities for Responsible Energy v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 222 W.Va. 481, 665 S.E.2d 315 (2008).

ARGUMENT

I. The Commission Followed Established Policy With Respect to the Leak Adjustment Rule and Did Not Change the Rule in an Administrative Order

The Commission decision in this case applies the Commission Leak Adjustment Rule to the facts with careful consideration of the history of the rule and cases decided there under. The Leak Adjustment Rule provides:

Each utility shall develop and implement a written policy concerning the adjustment of customer bills where the bill reflects unusual usage which can be attributable to leakage on the customer's side of the meter. Leaking commodes, dripping faucets, malfunctioning appliances and similar situations shall not constitute leaks which **entitle** the customer to a recalculated bill. The policy shall be maintained in the utility's office for inspection by the public and shall be applied in a non-discriminatory manner to all customers. **The reasonableness of the utility's policy or practice with respect to a policy shall be subject to Commission review in a formal complaint proceeding** [Emphasis added].

Water Rule 4.4.c.1

The Commission promulgated the Leak Adjustment Rule in its current form in General Order 188.12, *In the Matter of Revised Rules and Regulations For Water Utilities*, Final Order, October 11, 1995. In the General Order, the Commission discussed utility opposition to customer leak adjustments noting, "[s]everal parties generally opposed mandatory leak adjustments. They believe that the adjustments send the wrong message to customers regarding maintaining their lines. We continue to believe leak adjustments are reasonable" G.O. 188.12 at

5.² In the same Order, the Commission noted utilities' requests that the Commission 1) limit leak adjustments to underground leaks only, and 2) purposefully exclude leaking commodes and faucets. *Id.* at 6. The Commission refused to limit leak adjustments to underground leaks, and instead incorporated the rule language relied on by Petitioner to disallow leaks that are obvious to the customer.

The Rule Leak Adjustment Rule reflects public policy that when unusual usage of water is attributable to a leak, it may be reasonable for a customer to receive a billing adjustment, but the adjustment should not reduce a bill to the extent that a utility and its other customers suffer financial harm. The rule also reflects public policy that a utility customer should bear the full cost of their conscious decision not to timely arrest or repair a leak that the customer is or should be fully aware of. The rule indicates, therefore, that customers will not automatically be entitled to adjustments caused by leaking commodes, dripping faucets or malfunctioning appliances. *Id.* at 5; Water Rule 4.4.c.2.

The Leak Adjustment Rule reserves two means by which the Commission evaluates leaks to determine eligibility for an adjustment. First, the use of the word "entitle" signals to water utilities and their customers that customers are not automatically entitled to an adjustment for leaks caused by leaking commodes, dripping faucets or malfunctioning appliances. Second, the Leak Adjustment Rule provides that the Commission will review in a formal complaint proceeding the reasonableness of a utility's leak adjustment policy and its application to the circumstances of a particular leak. Because there are an endless number of scenarios that can lead to a customer leak, the Commission provided guidance as to what a leak adjustment policy should look like, while reserving its authority to review individual fact patterns. In subsequent

² Shortly after issuing G.O. 188.12, the Commission finalized corresponding Sewer Rules through General Orders 188.12 In the Matter of Revised Rules and Regulations for Water Utilities and General Order 186.8 In the Matter of Revised Rules and Regulations for Sewer Utilities November 3, 1995.

Orders applying the language of the Leak Adjustment Rule, the Commission affirmed that the rule does not prohibit granting a leak adjustment for a leaking commode, dripping faucet or malfunctioning appliance. The Commission has also consistently engaged in a review of the circumstances.

Two years after promulgation of the Leak Adjustment Rule, in Watkins v. City of Grafton, Case. No. 97-1545-WS-C, Comm'n Order February 11, 1998, a customer requested a leak adjustment after she accidentally left the water running on the water-wash of a furnace air draining system. The Commission engaged in a "review of the facts surrounding the incident" and concluded that the specific facts and circumstances presented in that case, including the fact that the customer was hearing-impaired, justified a leak adjustment. Id. at 6. The Commission also explained in its Order that denial of a billing adjustment would work a hardship on the Complainant and that Water Rule 1.6.2³ provided that a rule may be modified if evidence presented justified a hardship waiver. Id. at 2.

In later cases, the Commission continued to review the individual facts and circumstances presented in billing complaints relating to undetectable water consumption. Collins v. Corp. of Shepardstown, Case No. 01-1430-WS-C, Comm'n Order July 23, 2002 (leak not noticeable because it originated in broken pipe in wall and water did not run into house); Solenberger v. Martinsburg Municipal Water and Sewer Dep'ts, Case No. 05-0645-WS-C, Recommended Decision August 18, 2005, final September 7, 2005 (utility agreed to leak adjustment because faulty bathtub faucet leak was located in vacant house owned by customer); Mayfield, Inc. v. Berkeley County Pub. Serv. Water Dist., Case No. 02-1416-PWD-C Recommended Decision June 5, 2003, final June 25, 2003 (leak in crawl space undetected for a period of time).

³ Numbering of the Water Rules has changed since the issuance of the Watkins decision. The current hardship waiver is found in Water Rule 1.6.b.

As shown by the cases cited above, the Commission has consistently conducted a fact based review scrutinizing whether the facts establish that a leak is undetectable or otherwise outside the control of the customer. The Commission described its application of the rule in McDowell v. Jefferson Utilities, Inc. and Jefferson County Pub. Serv. Dist., Case No. 09-0769-W-PSD-C Comm'n January 11, 2011.

[T]he underlying policy behind the rules is that the customer not the utilities, should be responsible for costs related to leaks on the customers' side of the meter that are obvious to the customer, and, thus are easily repaired by the customer and preventable through routine maintenance. As the Commission has recognized, "[o]ne purpose of the applicable Water Rules and Sewer Rules is to deny leak adjustments in cases where the accrual of a large bill is due to the customer's own failure to notice an obvious leak (like a leaky toilet)." Collins v. Corp. of Shepardstown, Case No. 01-1430-WS-C, (Commission Order dated July 23, 2002) at p. 7.

Id. at 5.

In the same decision, the Commission stated:

[A]pplying the underlying policy of customer responsibility for readily discernible leaks leads to the obvious corollary that if the customer has a leaking toilet, dripping faucet, malfunctioning appliance or similar situation that it is not obvious or detectable to the customer, a leak adjustment is approvable under the rules.

Id.

The Commission reaffirmed those principles in Jenkins v. Berkeley County Pub. Serv. Sewer Dist., Case No. 17-0663-PSD-C, Comm'n Order October 1, 2018 (leak resulted from probable stuck valve in the customer's water softener). In that case the Commission noted the "policy of customer responsibility for readily discernible leaks allows for an alternative outcome if the customer has a leaking toilet, dripping faucet, malfunctioning appliance or similar situation that is not obvious or detectable to the customer." Id. at 6.

Even the cases cited by the Petitioner support the proposition that the Leak Adjustment Rule does not absolutely prohibit a billing adjustment for undetected water consumption relating

to commodes and that the circumstances of a leak matter. For example, the City cited to Sabo v. Morgantown Util. Bd., Case No. 02-0367-WS-C, W. Va. PUC LEXIS 2513, Recommended Decision June 14, 2002, final July 4, 2002, in which the ALJ denied a leak adjustment even though the customer was deceased. Notably however in the Recommended Decision, the ALJ acknowledged the statement in the initial Staff recommendation, “while [Commission Staff] generally agreed that a leaking commode under *most* circumstances did not qualify for a leak adjustment, [Commission Staff] would reserve final judgment until a field investigation was completed.” Id. at 4 (emphasis added). After the Commission Staff completed its field investigation, Staff determined that the leak did not qualify and the ALJ agreed with Staff and the Utility based on the facts. Id. at 7, 8.

The City also cited Currence v. Elkins Mun. Water Depart., Case No. 03-0004-W-C, 2013 W.Va. PUC LEXIS 1533 6, Recommended Decision April 9, 2003, final April 29, 2003, and Moye v. West Virginia-American Water Co., No. 00-1441-W-C, 2001 W. Va. PUC LEXIS 1005, Recommended Decision November 15, 2000, final January 5, 2001, and incorrectly argued that the Commission did not review the circumstances surrounding the leaks at issue. The Commission and Commission Staff engaged in a fact-specific review in both cases. In each case, after the Commission Staff conducted an investigation, the ALJ did not recommend a leak adjustment based on the circumstances surrounding the leak. Specifically in Currence, the ALJ dismissed the case after a “consideration of all of the above,” indicating the facts and background of the case. Currence at 6.

In determining that Ms. Florczak is entitled to a leak adjustment because of the circumstances of this particular leak, the Commission did not ignore the plain language of its own rule. Instead, the Commission reviewed the City’s application of its leak adjustment policy

to these particular facts, consistent with previous Commission decisions and the Leak Adjustment Rule itself.

II. The Substantive Result of the Commission Decision to Allow a Leak Adjustment for Ms. Florczak was Proper

A. The Evidence Presented By Ms. Florczak Justified a Leak Adjustment

Consistent with the Commission's long standing practice, the Commission reviewed the circumstances surrounding Ms. Florczak's leak and determined it was fair and reasonable to require a billing adjustment. At hearing, Ms. Florczak and her daughter testified that:

- Her husband's bladder cancer required him to use strong chemicals as part of his cancer treatment. (Tr. p. 22).
- The treatment is called BCG which is a medication that is injected into the bladder to eat away the cancer cells. (Tr. p. 38).
- Every time Ms. Florczak's husband flushed the commode, he had to add a chemical solution to the commode to dilute the toxicity of the chemicals. (Tr. p. 37).
- Due to the nature of the cancer treatments, the bathroom was strictly off limits to guests before and after her husband's death. (Tr. p. 37).
- Ms. Florczak would not allow anyone to enter the bathroom. (Tr. p. 22).
- Ms. Florczak did not enter the bathroom following her husband's death because it had not been properly sanitized. (Tr. p. 38).
- Upon entering the bathroom after receipt of a high water bill, Ms. Florczak's daughter, who is a nurse, stated she regretted that she did not get "geared up" before going into that bathroom to check for the leak. (Tr. p. 39).
- The commode at issue is in the master bathroom which is located off of the

master bedroom and through two doorways. One door is the bathroom door shutting off the master bathroom from the bedroom and the other door separates the toilet within the bathroom. (Tr. p. 15).

- Ms. Florczak testified that although she slept in the master bedroom, she did not hear the water running in the bathroom. (Tr. p. 20).
- Ms. Florczak testified that she and all family members and guests exclusively used the guest bathroom instead of the master bathroom. (Tr. p. 21-22).
- Every item of Ms. Florczak's toiletries was in the guest bathroom and she would not even use the master bathroom in the middle of the night. (Tr. p. 37).
- Promptly upon discovery of the leak, it was fixed (Tr. p. 38).

Consistent with the Leak Adjustment Rule, the Commission determined the facts of this specific leak qualified for a leak adjustment because it was hidden or otherwise undetectable to this customer in the specific circumstances of this case. (Florczak, Comm'n Order September 6, 2019 at 4-5). In making that determination, the Commission noted that neither the City nor the ALJ refuted the Complainant's testimony the leak was in a non-detectable location. Id. at 5.

B. The Commission Fulfilled its Statutory Duties in Adjudicating This Complaint

The Legislature created the Commission to, among other things, ensure fair regulation in interest of the using and consuming public and ensure that charges for utility services are just and reasonable. W.Va. Code §24-1-1(a)(1),(4). The Commission is charged with investigating any reasonable customer complaint brought before it. W.Va. Code §24-4-6. In addition to considering the specific facts and circumstances presented by the complainant, the Commission is empowered to investigate utility practices and require a utility to adhere to applicable laws and regulations. W.Va. Code §§24-2-2; 24-4-6. When the Commission determines that the acts or

practices of the utility are unreasonable, insufficient or unjust, the Commission may order the utility to correct its practice. W.Va. Code §24-2-7(a). When adopting the Leak Adjustment Rule, the Commission specifically reserved its authority to review the reasonableness of a utility's leak adjustment policy and the application of that policy. Water Rule 4.4.c.1. The City's policy not to consider or review the circumstances surrounding the leak and whether the leak was obvious or hidden, was unreasonable and unjust. Pursuant to its statutory duties, the Commission had this complaint investigated, reviewed the circumstances surrounding this particular leak and determined a billing adjustment was appropriate.

C. A Leak Adjustment for Ms. Florczak Does Not Adversely Impact the City or its Other Customers Financially

The Commission Final Order does not adversely impact the City or its other customers financially. To understand why, it is important to understand how water rates are developed. Many elements go into the development of a water rate including the cost to pump the water into the treatment plant, the cost of chemicals to treat the water, the cost to construct and maintain the treatment plant, the cost to construct and maintain the distribution system that delivers water to customers, the cost to read meters, the cost to bill customers, the labor costs associated with all of those activities and the return on the capital invested in the business. For a municipality like the City, all of those elements add up to the full base rates that customers ultimately pay for water service. The rates customers pay are divided into fixed costs and variable costs.

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